
STATE OF CONNECTICUTDEPARTMENT OF LABORCONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR RELATIONS
In the Matter ofTOWN OF HAMDEN- and –THE HAMDEN PAID FIREMEN’SSICK BENEFIT ASSOCIATION

Case No. MPP-2228Decision No. 1044February 23, 1972
A P P E A R A N C E S:Lawrence O 'Brien, Esq.,for the RespondentFrank J. Raccio, Esq.,for the Complainant DECISION AND ORDEROn December 8, 1971, The Hamden Paid Firemen's Sick Benefit Association (hereinafter the Association)filed a complaint with the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations (hereinafter the Board) allegingthat the Town of Hamden (hereinafter the Town) had engaged and was engaging in prohibited practicesin violation of Section 7-470 of the Municipal Employee Relations Act (hereinafter the Act). Thespecifications of fact in the complaint are as follows:“Complaint and Respondent entered into a collective bargainingagreement for the period October 7, 1969 to October 4, 1971. Article VI,Section 2 of said agreement provides that effective October 6, 1970, theRespondent would pay the full cost of life insurance coverage foremployees represented by complainant. In fact, Respondent did pay thefull cost of 1life insurance coverage for said employees.Complainant and Respondent are and have been in the process ofnegotiating a collective bargaining agreement to take effect October 5,1971. On November 29, 1971 Respondent notified Complainant thatRespondent was terminating the insurance benefit and that henceforthRespondent would not pay the full cost of the life insurance coveragereferred to above. On or about Dec. 2, 1971 Respondent deducted thecost of said insurance from the paychecks of employees. The action ofRespondent constitutes a unilateral change by it of the terms andconditions of employment in violation of Section 7-470 Conn. Gen.Statutes. Complainant requests the following relief



1. An order requiring Respondent to continue to pay said premiums.2. An order requiring Respondent to bargain in good faith.3. Such other relief as the Board deems just. "After the requisite administrative steps had been taken the matter was duly brought on for hearingbefore the Board at the Hamden Memorial Town Hall on January 11, 1972, at which the parties appearedand were represented by counsel. Full opportunity was given the parties to adduce evidence; to call,examine, and cross-examine witnesses; and to make argument. At the hearing the Town filed an answeradmitting the allegations contained in sentences 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 of the complaint, and denying theallegations contained in sentence 7 thereof. At the close of the hearing the parties were given leave to filebriefs to be postmarked not later than two weeks from the date of' hearing. Briefs were filed by bothparties. The RespondentThe Town of Hamden is a political subdivision of the State of Connecticut and a municipal employerwithin the meaning of the Act. The AssociationThe Association is an employee organization within the meaning of the Act and the exclusiverepresentative for a bargaining unit of the Town consisting of all regular full time firemen except the FireChief, Fire Marshal, Deputy Chiefs, Superintendent of Fire Alarms, and Apparatus and AssistantSuperintendent of Alarms and Apparatus. Findings of FactUpon the whole evidence the Board makes the following findings of fact:1. A collective bargaining agreement covering the period from October, 1969 to October, 1971between the Town and the Association provided that the total premium cost of certain optionalgroup life insurance be borne by the Town during the second year of the agreement. Thisagreement will hereinafter be called the Contract.2. Duririg the first year of the Contract's term and for some years theretofore the employees whotook out insurance had been required to pay $.40 per thousand toward the cost of this insurance,and the Town paid the balance (which amounted to about $.75 per thousand). The averageamount of insurance held was about $10,000 per employee. There are about 122 members of thebargaining unit.3. The Contract reflected the recommendations of' a Fact Finder Report which the Association'snegotiating committee had agreed with the Mayor of the Town to "accept … as binding andpresent … to the Association for a final vote with our affirmative recommendation."4. The negotiators reduced the Fact Finder's Report to contract form and submitted it to theAssociation membership and the Town's Legislative Council respectively. The agreement wasapproved by both bodies and went into effect.5. The provision for full payment of insurance premiums had been proposed by the Association.



6. Negotiations for a new agreement for the period after expiration of the Contract were commencedin March, 1971 and were continuing at the time of the hearing. Continuation of the Contract'sprovision relating to Town payment of the entire cost of group life insurance was proposed by theAssociation in these negotiations. (Town Br. p.2)7. During these negotiations the Town at no time proposed a change in the provision concerningpayment of life insurance premiums.8. On November 16, 1971 the Town's negotiator stated at a bargaining session that the Contractwould remain in effect up until a certain unspecified future time. (Tr. p.6)9. On November 29, 1971, the Town notified the Association's attorney in writing that it wasreverting to the policy, otherwise affecting all municipal employees, except the members of thefire department (during the period which had begun in October, 1970) of requiring employees tocarry the first $.40 per thousand of the cost of the group life insurance policies.10. Pursuant to this notice deductions were made from the firemen's pay on December 2 andDecember 16, 1971. These were at the average rate of $4.00 per month (depending on whetherinsurance was held and, it so, the amount of insurance).11. There was no evidence and no claim that the Town, in taking the action described in paragraphs 9and 10, was motivated by anti-union bias or by an overall purpose to impede or obstruct thecontinuation of negotiations.12. Counsel for the Town stated in oral argument at the hearing that “with the conclusion of thecontract the Town determined as a matter of equity to all of the other Town employees that itcould not continue to treat this group differently from all of the others." (Tr. p. 37). There was,however, no evidence at the hearing that this was the case and no evidence of any fact tending tojustify or explain the Town's action described in paragraphs 9 and 10.
13. The parties had not bargained to impasse on the issue of insurance pay or any other issue at thetime of the acts described in paragraphs 9 and 10.14. The Association is an employee organization which has been designated in accordance with theprovisions of sections 7-467 to 7-477 inclusive of the General Statutes as the exclusiverepresentative of employees of the Town in an appropriate unit, viz. firemen employed by theTown. Conclusions of Law1. The matter of payment by the Town of premiums for group insurance on the lives of its employeesis a condition of employment, within the meaning of § 7-470(c) of the Act and was a propersubject of bargaining between the parties under § 7-470(a)(4) and § 7-470(c).2. Under the circumstances disclosed by the evidence in this case the Town's conduct in ceasing topay the whole premium for such insurance on and after December 2, 1971, unilaterally andwithout negotiating such change with the Association constituted a prohibited practice inviolation of § 7-470(a)(4) and § 7-470(c).



3. The policies of §§ 7-467 to 7-477, inclusive of the Act will be effectuated by an order(a) that the Town cease and desist from its refusal to pay the whole premium for the group lifeinsurance for those members of the bargaining unit who are covered by such insurance inthe manner required by the Contract until such time as a change in this matter shall havebeen negotiated with the Association.(b) reimburse such members for that part of such premiums which they have been requestedto pay on and after December 2, 1971.
DiscussionThe provisions of the Connecticut Act involved in this case are substantially identical with the analogousprovisions of the federal Labor Management Relations Act. See 29 U.S.C. §§ 158(a)(5) and 158(d), 49 Stat.452-453, 61 id 142. Both parties therefore quite properly cite in their briefs federal decisions as well asdecisions of this Board. And both parties treat as leading authority the case of NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736(1962).This case held that an employer's unilateral change in working conditions while negotiations werepending constituted a proscribed refusal to bargain under the federal statute. The changes promulgatedby the employer in that case pertained to sick leave, general wage increases, and merit increases. TheBoard held that these changes constituted such a refusal to bargain "in a decision which expresslydisclaimed any finding that the totality of the respondents' conduct manifested bad faith in the pendingnegotiations." 369 U.S. at 737. The Court of Appeals denied enforcement of the Board's order, 289 F.2d700, but the Supreme Court reversed this judgment and remanded the case "with direction to the court toenforce the Board's order." 369 U.S. at 748.In the course of its opinion, the court said:"A refusal to negotiate in fact as to any subject which is within § 8 (d),and about which the union seeks to negotiate, violates § 8(a)(5) thoughthe employer has every desire to reach agreement with the union uponan over-all collective agreement and earnestly and in all good faithbargains to that end. We hold that an employer' s unilateral change inconditions of employment under negotiation is similarly a violation of §8(a)(5), for it is circumvention of the duty to negotiate ”which frustratesthe objectives of § 8(a) (5) much as does a flat refusal."x   x   x“Unilateral action by an employer without prior discussion with theunion does amount to a refusal to negotiate about the affected conditionsof employment under negotiation, and must of necessityobstructbargaining, contrary to the congressional policy." Id. at747.The Association claims that this decision requires this Board to hold that a unilateral change in workingconditions is per se a refusal to bargain and a violation of the Act.The Town on the other hand urges that in Katz the court “did not establish a rigid and inflexible standard;it created no per se violation.” (Town Br. p. 2) In support of this position the Town points to the Court’s



statement in the closing sentence of its opinion that “[w]e do not foreclose the possibility that there mightbe circumstances where the Board could or should accept as excusing or accepting unilateral action … ”369 U.S., at 748. The Town also refers to the Court’s footnote 14 which reads, in part: “Compare theisolated individual wage adjustments held not to be unfair labor practices in Labor Board v. SuperiorFireproof Door & Sash Co., 289 F 2d 713, 720 and White v. Labor Board, 255 F 2d 564, 565*” 369 U.S. at747.We need not in this case resolve the differences urged by the parties in interpreting the Katz opinion.There have been, as the Town points out, a few decisions by the Board itself and by the lower federalcourts in which instances of unilateral action in conferring minor benefits on members at the bargainingunit have been held not to constitute a refusal to bargain. United Steelworkers of America v. NLRB, 401F.2d 434 (D.C. Cir. 1968) (Board upheld in finding no unfair labor practice in employer's furnishingtree sandwiches to non-striking workers whose usual sources of food were cut off by the strike); NLRB v.Superior Fireproof Door & Sash Co., supra: White v. NLRB, supra. On the other hand no case has beencited in which the unilateral withdrawal of benefits has been so considered. Nor is there any judicial orBoard support for the Town's contention that the size of the economic benefit here is so insignificant, thatits unilaterial withdrawal should. be overlooked. Indeed a decision cited by the Town deals with a benefitof almost identical dimensions. NLRB v. Central Illinois Public Service Co., 324 F .2d 916 (7th Cir. 1963)(unilateral withdrawal of discount amounting on average to $48 annually per employee held to constituteunfair labor practice). The prior decisions of this Board are entirely in accord with the federal decisions.See Borough of Naugatuck (Local1219, IAFF) Dec. No. 769; Town of Groton v. PBA Post No. 3, Dec. No.806.Whatever the intent of the Town here, its unilateral actions “without prior discussion with the[Association] does amount to a refusal to negotiate about the affected conditions of employment undernegotiation, and must of necessity obstruct bargaining, contrary to the 'policy' of the Act." NLRB v. Katz,369 U.S. at 747. Such actions “will rarely be justified by any reason of substance." Ibid. Certainly nothingshown here can be accepted as a justification. There is nothing intrinsically wrong in the Town's seekingequality of treatment among its employees (even if we may assume this to be the case on the basis of aclaim unsupported by evidence). But that would not alone justify the Town in its withdrawal of existingbenefits from a favored group without negotiating the change with those concerned; especially where thechange is made while negotiations are in progress in which this very issue has been tendered. It shouldbe added that there is no showing here of any emergency or any need for speedy action which wouldwarrant undercutting the bargaining process. Equality of treatment may be a legitimate goal for a town topursue in bargaining but there are other competing values, and we know from our experience thatcollective bargaining may produce disparities. Surely the claims of equality are not so peremptory andinconsistent that they justify unilateral action which would frustrate the policy of the Act.O R D E RBy virtue of and pursuant to the powers vested in the Connecticut State Board at Labor Relations by theMunicipal Employee Relations Act, it isORDERED, that the Town of Hamden shall

* These cases dealt with individual merit raises made in accordance with prior practice at a time when negotiations werenot in progress.



I. Cease and desist from its refusal to pay the whole premium for the group life insurance forthose members of the bargaining unit who are covered by such insurance, in the mannerwhich was required by the agreement between the parties effective from October, 1969 toOctober, 1971, until such time as a change in this practice shall have been negotiated withthe Association.II. Take the following action which the Board finds will effectuate the policies of the Act:(a) Reimburse members of the bargaining unit who are covered by group lifeinsurance for that portion of the premium which they have been required to payon and after December 2, 1971.(b) Post immediately in a conspicuous place where members of the bargaining unitcustomarily assemble, and leave posted for a period of sixty (60) consecutivedays from the date of posting, a copy of this Decision and Order in its entirety.(c) Within thirty (30) days of the receipt of the Order post, by attaching to theOrder, and leave posted for a period of thirty (30) days from the date of posting astatement (copy annexed hereto marked Schedule A) that:1) The Town will not engage in the conduct from which it is ordered to ceaseand desist in paragraph I of this Order; and2) The Town will, upon request, reimburse members of the bargaining unit whoare covered by group life insurance for that part of the premium which theyhave been requested to pay on and after December 2, 1971.III. Notify the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations at its office in the LaborDepartment, 200 Folly Brook Boulevard, Wethersfield, Connecticut, within thirty (30)days of the receipt of this Decision and Order of the steps taken by the Town to complywith this ORDER.



TO:The Honorable William M. AdamsMayor, Town of HamdenMemorial Town Hall CERTIFIEDHamden, Connecticut 06514 (RRR)Joseph R. Greco, Esq.Attn: Lawrence O'Brien, Esq.Memorial Town HallHamden, Connecticut 06514John Tramontano, PresidentThe Hamden Paid Firemen’s Sick Benefit Associationc/o Kopkind & Flynn P.C.132 Temple StreetBox 799 CERTIFIEDNew Haven, Connecticut 06510 (RRR)Frank J. Raccio, Esq.132 Temple StreetNew Haven, Connecticut. 06510



SCHEDULE ASTATE OF CONNECTICUTDEPARTMENT OF LABORCONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR RELATIONS
In the Matter ofTOWN OF HAMDEN- and –THE HAMDEN PAID FIREMEN’SSICK BENEFIT ASSOCIATION

Case No. MPP-2228Decision No. 1044February 23, 1972
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEESThe undersigned, Respondent in the above-entitled proceeding, hereby states, in accordance with theOrder of the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations, dated February 23, 1972, a copy of which isseparately posted with this notice that:

1. TheTown will not engage in the conduct from which it is ordered to cease and desist in paragraphI of this Order.2. The Town will, upon request, reimburse members of the bargaining unit who are covered bygroup life insurance for that part of the premium which they have been requested to pay on andafter December 2, 1971.

Dated: Hamden, Connecticut1972
TOWN OF HAMDEN
By ____________________________________


